Complement factor 5a as a therapeutic target

Trent M. Woodruff^{1*}, Lavinia M. Proctor¹, Anna J. Strachan², Stephen M. Taylor²

¹Promics Ltd., 35 Miles Platting Road, Eight Mile Plains, Brisbane, QLD 4113, Australia, ²School of Biomedical Sciences, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, QLD 4072, Australia. *Correspondence: e-mail: trent.woodruff@promics.com

CONTENTS

Abstract
Introduction
The complement system325
C5a and the C5a receptor325
C5a and disease
Rheumatoid arthritis
Psoriasis
Inflammatory bowel disease
Ischemia-reperfusion injuries
C5a as a therapeutic target
Conclusions
References

Abstract

The complement system is an innate immune defense mechanism that protects the host from infection and injury. Complement activation results in the formation of anaphylatoxins, including the biologically active protein C5a. This anaphylatoxin is a potent chemotactic agent for immune and inflammatory cells and induces cell activation. In situations of excessive or uncontrolled complement activation, the overproduction of C5a can cause deleterious effects to the host, and this process is implicated in the pathogenesis of numerous immunoinflammatory disease states, including rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis, inflammatory bowel disease, ischemia-reperfusion injuries and others. The presence of C5a in a wide variety of conditions has prompted many groups to examine the potential of inhibiting this complement activation product, with the aim of controlling these diseases and reducing the pathologic process. However, to date there is no clinically available specific C5a inhibitor and development of this new drug class is still in a relatively early stage, although limited phase I and phase II human clinical trials have been undertaken in the last few years with selected agents. In this review, examination of the current evidence supporting a specific role of C5a in selected disease states and an overview of potential therapeutic C5a inhibitors will enable the critical evaluation of the potential for C5a as a therapeutic target.

Introduction

The complement system

The complement system consists of over 30 components that play an essential role in host defense responses to infection and injury. This complement cascade can be initiated via either the classical pathway, which is initiated by immune complex formation, or the antibody-independent mannan-binding lectin (MBL) pathway or the alternate pathway, initiated by contact with foreign cell surface components (1). All three pathways converge at C3 and terminate in formation of the membrane attack complex (MAC; C5b-9), which is involved in bacterial cell lysis (1).

In addition, complement cascade activation results in formation of a group of biologically active peptides (74-77 amino acids) termed the anaphylatoxins, C5a, C4a and C3a. The anaphylatoxins are released from the alpha chains of complement components C5, C4 and C3, respectively, by convertase-mediated proteolytic cleavage of an arginyl-X bond in each parent peptide (1). C3a and C5a are produced upon complement activation via all three pathways and C4a is produced upon activation of the classical and MBL pathways (2). All three anaphylatoxins are highly cationic, stabilized by three conserved disulfide linkages and have very similar tertiary structures composed of an alpha-helical bundle core and carboxyterminal (C-terminal) region. While the role of C4a remains ill-defined, C5a and C3a are known to be involved in the modulation of immune responses and inflammatory processes (2).

C5a and the C5a receptor

C5a is a glycoprotein composed of 74 amino acids folded into a four alpha-helical bundle core (residues 1-63) of approximately anti-parallel topology, stabilized by three disulfide bonds (between Cys²¹-Cys⁴⁷, Cys²²-Cys⁵⁴ and Cys³⁴-Cys⁵⁵) (3). Six *C*-terminal residues of C5a assume an elongated 1.5 turn helix (4). C5a and its degradation product C5adesArg, which is produced through carboxypeptidase-*N*-mediated cleavage of the C5a C-terminal arginine residue, reportedly interact with two cell surface receptors, the C5a receptor (C5aR) and a recently discovered second receptor, termed C5L2.

The human C5aR is a 350-residue, seven transmembrane-spanning, G-protein-coupled receptor which is responsible for the defined activities of C5a in biological processes. A two-site binding model has been devised to describe the interaction between C5a and the C5aR. The first "recognition" binding site is hypothesized to involve an interaction between the acidic Asp residues of the amino-terminal (*N*-terminal) of the C5aR and residues of the cationic, helical core of C5a, namely Lys¹⁹, Lys²⁰ and Arg⁴⁶ from the *N*-terminal and loop 3 of C5a. The second "activation" binding site lies within the pore formed by the transmembrane domains of the receptor, including Asp⁸², Glu¹⁹⁹ and Arg²⁰⁶, and interacts with the *C*-terminal residues of C5a, which is responsible for C5aR activation (5).

The newly defined C5L2 receptor is composed of 337 amino acids, contains seven transmembrane domains and reportedly can form high affinity interactions with both C5a and C5adesArg (6). The C5L2 receptor is coexpressed with the C5a receptor on many cells, including polymorphonuclear neutrophils, the expression of which has been shown to be upregulated in an immunoinflammatory response (7). However, as a result of an Arg to Lys mutation in the DRY sequence (in the third transmembrane region) of C5L2, this receptor is unable to couple to G proteins (8). The C5L2 receptor may serve to balance C5a-induced responses given that anti-C5L2 antibody administration to septic mice induced an increase in IL-6 when compared with untreated animals (7). Moreover, an enhanced in vitro chemotactic response of C5L2-/- murine bone marrow cells to C5a, coupled with amplified neutrophil influx in response to C5a, further support an antiinflammatory role for C5L2 (9). In some situations, the C5L2 receptor may act as a nonsignaling decoy receptor, binding surplus C5a and limiting the proinflammatory actions of C5a at the receptor (8). Alternatively, C5L2 may interact with the C5aR intracellularly through complex formation, or it may signal through a non-G-protein-coupled pathway. The definitive biological role of C5L2 and the mechanism through which

C5a/C5adesArg interacts with C5L2 remain to be fully illuminated.

The proinflammatory and immunoregulatory activities of C5a have been extensively characterized (see 2 for review). C5a induces smooth muscle contraction via the release of secondary mediators and chemotaxis of inflammatory cells by a direct action (2). Chemotaxis of these cells is accompanied by cell adhesion and diapedesis mediated by C5a-induced transient upregulation of CD11/CD18 integrins on inflammatory cells and P-selectin molecules on endothelial cells Furthermore, C5a is responsible for induction of bactericidal lysosomal enzymes and reactive oxygen species from PMNs and proinflammatory and immunomodulatory cytokines from monocytes and macrophages (2). C5ainduced immune enhancement is mediated through chemotaxis of antigen-presenting cells, augmentation of antigen- and mitogen-induced antibody production, antigen- and alloantigen-mediated T-cell proliferation and major histocompatibility complex restricted T-cell proliferation, as well as C5a-induced release of IL-1 from macrophages (10). Moreover, in vivo, C5a causes numerous effects, and infusion to rats induces acute neutropenia, systemic hypotension and elevation of cytokines including TNF-α and IL-6 (11, 12). These varied proinflammatory effects of C5a are suggestive of a key role in inflammation and inflammatory diseases.

C5a and disease

As described above, the generation of C5a in the body produces a powerful immune and inflammatory response when it binds to the C5aR. These innate responses have evolved to remove and destroy invading organisms and foreign material, and ultimately protect the host from infection. However, the powerful actions of C5a can have deleterious effects on the host, particularly in situations where complement is inappropriately or excessively activated or under-regulated (13). In these situations, the abnormal and chronic production of C5a, which

Table I: Diseases in which C5a is believed to be involved in the pathogenesis.

Disorder/Disease	Ref.
Acute brain trauma	97
Acute respiratory distress syndrome	101
Atherosclerosis	102
Burn injuries	103
Cardiopulmonary bypass	104
Glomerulonephritis	105
Hemorrhagic shock	93
Inflammatory bowel disease	51
Ischemia-reperfusion injuries	53
Liver fibrosis	94
Macular degeneration	106
Neurodegenerative diseases	98, 107
Pseudoallergic reactions	108
Psoriasis	32, 109
Recurrent pregnancy loss	96
Rheumatoid arthritis	21
Sepsis	91
Systemic lupus erythematosus	95

is thought to contribute to the pathogenesis of numerous disease states, can lead to devastating effects to the body. A list of diseases where C5a is thought to contribute in the pathogenesis is shown in Table I. This list is by no means comprehensive, and the precise role of C5a in these diseases is constantly being refined as more studies are conducted. The evidence for C5a contributing to a few of these diseases is described in more detail below.

Rheumatoid arthritis

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is a debilitating, chronic autoimmune condition that affects approximately 1-2% of the population (14). The disease is primarily characterized by a severe and destructive immunoinflammatory response in the small peripheral joints, resulting in severe joint swelling, pain and ultimately joint deformity (15). The precise etiology of RA remains unknown, but genetic and environmental factors influence susceptibility to the disease by affecting the reactivity of the immune system (14).

An overview of the general pathogenesis of RA is as follows: immune complexes form following the binding of an unknown antigen to immunoglobulin rheumatic factors (IgM or IgG) deposited in the joint. This initiates the inflammatory response through local activation of the classical complement cascade and subsequent recruitment and activation of immune and inflammatory cells. These activated cells then release a host of chemical mediators that lead to the clinical manifestations of RA (15).

Given that complement activation products are elevated, both in the circulation and the joint, in patients with RA (16, 17), the production of C5a is inevitable. Indeed, C5a has been detected in the synovial fluids and plasma of RA patients (18). A role for C5a in RA has also been shown through the demonstration of elevated levels of C5aR on synoviocytes isolated from RA patients (19).

The effect of specifically inhibiting C5a and/or C5aRs has been demonstrated in several animal models of RA with relative success. Using C5aR knockout mice, Grant and colleagues demonstrated that the C5aR is essential to produce pathology in a model of collagen-induced arthritis (20). C5aR-deficient mice had reduced paw swelling, inflammatory cell infiltration, inflammatory cytokines and histopathology compared to the C5aR-sufficient animals (20). Interestingly, in the same study, the authors found no effect from the deletion of C3aRs, indicating that C3a is not involved in the pathology of arthritis in this model (20). Our group has also shown the deleterious effects of C5a in a model of experimental arthritis by using a specific, potent C5aR antagonist developed in our laboratories, PMX53 (AcF-[OP(D-Cha)WR], Promics Ltd.). This cyclic peptide antagonist was utilized in a model of antigen-induced arthritis in rats. Rats treated with the antagonist had reduced joint swelling and associated gait disturbances, inflammatory cell influx, inflammatory cytokines and histopathology (21). The results were similar to the results of Grant and co-workers except that C5aR antagonism did not provide a complete inhibition of arthritis, as it did in the C5aR-deficient mice (20). Another study conducted using the linear C5aR antagonist MeFKP(D-Cha)WR failed to demonstrate an effective inhibition of disease progression in an acute MAC-dependent anti-CD59 antibody-induced arthritis model (22). Several reasons for the apparent lack of C5a involvement in this model include the impaired clearance of MAC rather than activation of the complement cascade as the instigator of pathology, the failure of pathology to be affected by complement depletion, and the resolution of the lesion within 3 days (23). In a model of collageninduced arthritis performed in cynomologus monkeys, animals treated with the C5a antagonist W-54011 (Mitsubishi Pharma Corp.) for 15 days had a significant reduction in joint swelling and radiographic scores (24). Another recent study conducted in collagen-induced arthritic mice vaccinated with the anti-C5/C5a immunotherapy MBP-C5a (Resistentia Pharmaceuticals AB) has also demonstrated the positive effects of inhibiting C5a (25).

Based on the weight of evidence indicating a deleterious role for C5a in the pathology of RA, several clinical studies have been performed to date to determine the effect of blocking C5a in patients with RA. Neurogen Corp. has conducted a phase IIa clinical trial with its nonpeptide C5aR antagonist (NGD-2000-1) in 49 patients with mild to moderate RA (26). In this trial, patients were dosed orally twice daily for 14 days with either a placebo or various doses of NGD-2000-1. The trial failed to meet the primary endpoint of a change in C-reactive protein levels, but significant reductions were seen in the highest dose group (100 mg b.i.d.) in several of the secondary endpoints, including ACR20 scores (20% improvement in swollen and tender joint numbers and 3/5 assessments of disease) (26). Promics Ltd. has also conducted a phase Ib/IIa clinical trial in patients with mild to moderate RA using its cyclic peptide C5aR antagonist PMX53 (27). This trial involved 21 patients, all of whom were concurrently treated with methotrexate, dosed orally once daily for 28 days with either a placebo or 8 mg/kg PMX53 (28). The trial's primary endpoint of safety and tolerability was successfully completed, and there were trends towards efficacy in several disease parameters (27). However, there were no clear indications of significant reductions in disease parameters (28). The trials conducted by Neurogen Corp. and Promics Ltd. involved a relatively small number of patients, and were run over a limited time period (14 and 28 days, respectively). Given this, it is not entirely surprising that there were no major reductions in disease pathology.

Alexion Pharmaceuticals has developed a humanized antibody to the complement factor 5 (C5) which prevents the production of C5a, C5b and the terminal MAC (29). A subcutaneous formulation of this antibody (eculizumab) was tested in a more extensive phase IIb clinical trial in RA patients, involving 350 patients over 6 months (29). This trial demonstrated that there was a significant improvement in patients' ACR20 scores and a significant

reduction in the erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) at 6 months (29). Although the therapeutic effects of eculizumab cannot be differentiated between inhibition of C5a or the MAC, the results from this trial suggest that inhibiting C5a could be an effective therapy in RA. At present, however, assessment of the potential therapeutic effects of drugs selectively blocking C5a in RA requires more extensive and longer term clinical trials to be conducted using specific C5a inhibitors.

Psoriasis

Psoriasis is a chronic and recurrent inflammatory disease in which silvery scales or plaques appear on the skin that are red and inflamed underneath, resulting in considerable discomfort and pain (30). Complement activation and neutrophil and other inflammatory cell infiltration participate in many of the inflammatory events seen in psoriasis (30, 31). Several studies have demonstrated that C5a and its degradation product, C5adesArg, are highly elevated in scale extracts from patients with psoriasis (32, 33). However, the circulating levels of C5a in psoriasis patients are not yet fully defined (34, 35). Intradermal injection of C5a also induces an inflammatory cutaneous response, with associated neutrophil infiltration, edema and erythema (36, 37), indicating that C5a is a proinflammatory agent in human dermis.

Although there are no particularly good animal models of psoriasis, models of contact senstitivity, delayed-type hypersensitivity and other models of dermal inflammation share some of the pathological features of psoriasis, and can be used to explore the pathogenesis of the disease (38). In models of contact sensitivity, C5a has been shown to play a major role in the development of the disease through the use of C5aR knockout mice and C5a neutralizing antibodies (39). C5a has also been shown to be important in the mediation of delayed-type hypersensitivity reactions through the use of the C5aR antagonist L-156602 (40); however, this compound may act through other mechanisms (41). The selective C5aR antagonist PMX53 is able to reduce or block markers of dermal immunoinflammation in the rat dermal Arthus reaction (42) and a mouse model of contact hypersensitivity (43). PMX53 as a topical formulation has also been examined for efficacy in a small, uncontrolled, open-label clinical trial in patients with mild psoriasis. This trial involved 10 patients with active psoriasis, and results indicated that 90% of patients showed an improvement in their psoriatic lesion score (LPSI) following application of the compound to specific psoriatic lesions (44). Taken together, these results suggest a potential clinical role for C5a in inflammatory skin conditions such as psoriasis.

Inflammatory bowel disease

Ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease are chronic inflammatory bowel disorders that fall under the banner of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). IBD is characterized by spontaneously occurring, chronic relapsing bowel

inflammation of unknown origin (45). The pathogenesis of IBD is thought to involve either a destructive autoimmune response directed toward endogenous antigens in the bowel of patients, an overactive immune and inflammatory response to the bowel following an infection with a pathogenic organism, or a deregulated or abnormal immune response to commensal bacteria (45, 46).

The role of C5a and the complement system in IBD has not been extensively studied. The complement system has been suggested to be activated in patients with IBD and plays a role in the disease pathogenesis (47, 48), but evidence for this has been relatively limited. Activated complement products are found at the luminal face of surface epithelial cells, as well as in the muscularis mucosa and submucosal blood vessels in IBD patients (49, 50). However, the contribution of these complement activation products in creating bowel damage is still unclear.

Our laboratory has provided the first evidence of a direct role for C5a in a model of experimentally induced colitis in rats. Administration of PMX53 reduced mortality and significantly improved macroscopic scores, colon edema, colon myeloperoxidase levels, reduced concentrations of TNF- α in the colon and serum, and increased food intake in diseased rats (51). These results support the view that C5a may play a deleterious role in IBD. Clinical studies are now required to ascertain whether inhibiting C5a may provide a therapeutic effect in patients with IBD.

Ischemia-reperfusion injuries

The re-establishment of blood flow to previously ischemic organs and tissues leads to ischemia-reperfusion (I/R) injuries. These injuries are characterized by local inflammation leading to tissue damage, as well as systemic complications as a result of the "reperfusion syndrome" (52). Reperfusion of the ischemic tissue, although necessary for its ultimate survival, triggers the release of numerous factors that exacerbate the injury. Neutrophil infiltration and proinflammatory cytokine production are key events in the pathogenesis of these diseases, and the involvement of the complement system in this process has long been recognized as an important mediator of tissue injury following I/R (53). Complement is activated in the ischemic tissue, resulting in subsequent generation of C5a, which may promote local and remote tissue injury (52). I/R injuries can occur in virtually all sites within the body. Following is a brief discussion of the evidence for C5a as a pathogenic factor in I/R injuries to the liver, kidney, gut, heart, skeletal muscle and brain.

In the case of I/R injury to the liver, the role of C5a is not yet completely understood. The serum complement system is activated and C5a generated following liver transplantation and subsequent reperfusion in humans (54). Our group has recently investigated the protective effects of administering PMX53 in an animal model of hepatic I/R (55). In this study, we found that blocking C5aRs was effective at reducing numerous parameters of liver injury following hepatic I/R (55). The inhibition was

not complete, however, particularly for the histopathological picture, indicating that C5a inhibition alone is not sufficient to completely abrogate hepatic I/R injury. It remains to be seen whether blocking C5a in a clinical situation of hepatic I/R will provide a therapeutic effect. The role of C5a in the liver is complex, for it has also been shown that C5a is a critical factor involved in regeneration of the liver following partial hepatectomy (56). This nuancing of the role of C5a in the liver may require judicious use of complement-modulating agents in particular clinical situations.

The complement system as a whole has been shown to be involved in the pathogenesis of renal I/R through several animal models (57, 58), although not all models have strongly implicated complement (59). Zhou and colleagues argued that C5a did not play a role in renal I/R injuries in their studies using C6-deficient mice, which were additionally treated with anti-C5 antibodies (57). They found that blocking the formation of C5a with this antibody provided no additional therapeutic effects in the C6-deficient mice, with the conclusion that C5a production was therefore not causing tissue injury (57). Studies by our group, however, using PMX53 have shown that blocking the activity of C5a ameliorates numerous parameters of tissue injury in a model of renal I/R in rats (60). A separate group has also shown that specific inhibition of C5a using a C5aR antagonist selected from phage libraries (ApIII-A8) is able to reduce the loss of renal function following renal I/R in mice, independent of neutrophils (61). Despite these studies using specific C5a inhibitors, debate remains regarding the role of C5a in inducing injury in renal I/R and the relative roles of the other complement factors (57). It would appear that for this condition, C5a alone is not the principal complement activation product critical for renal I/R pathology. Clinical studies with complement inhibitors, which would further elucidate the role of C5a, have yet to be performed for this I/R condition. It could be hypothesized that species and organ differences may account for these conflicting reports on complement and C5a in renal I/R, and definitive studies will require administration of complement inhibitors in human clinical trials.

Intestinal I/R injury can result in severe systemic complications, and the role of complement in these pathologies has been well documented (62). Complement activation and generation of plasma C5a is seen in canines with bowel I/R (63). Numerous studies have also shown the importance of C5a in various animal models of intestinal I/R. Studies by Heller and co-workers showed that the administration of the proteinaceous C5aR antagonist. ΔpIII-A8, reduced local and remote tissue injury caused by intestinal I/R in mice (64). Work by Austen and colleagues, however, suggested that the MAC is more important in inducing tissue injury following intestinal I/R in mice (65), although specific C5a inhibitors were not used in this study. Our group examined the protective effects of PMX53 in a rat model of intestinal I/R. We found that blockade of C5aRs provided a significant protection against both local and remote injury parameters in this

model (66). In a separate study, Fleming and colleagues showed a similar protective effect in a mouse model of mesenteric I/R using the closely related antagonist, PMX57 (F-[OP(D-Cha)WR]) (67). The results of these studies using selective C5aR inhibitors strongly indicate a specific role for C5a in inducing tissue injury following intestinal I/R. Although the inhibition of C5a alone does not appear to provide complete inhibition of all parameters in intestinal I/R, clinical studies using one of these or other C5a inhibitors are warranted based on these studies.

Complement overactivation in cardiac I/R has long been proposed as a detrimental mediator of tissue injury. This has been shown in several clinical studies where complement activation has been measured (68, 69) and in numerous animal models of myocardial infarction where complement inhibitors have provided protection (70, 71). Indeed, analysis of human postmortem material has shown that following an infarct essentially all of the complement components are expressed inside the myocardial muscle cells (72). Specifically, C5a has been proposed to be a major mediator of pathology in cardiac I/R. Several animal models have also indicated the involvement of C5a. The recombinant human C5a antagonist, CGS-32359, reduced infarct size after coronary artery occlusion in a porcine model of surgical revascularization (73). Anti-C5a antibodies have also been used to successfully reduce tissue injury following myocardial I/R in pigs (74). Experiments by Tanhehco and colleagues, however, indicate that low concentrations of C5a may be protective against myocardial I/R in rabbits (75). C5a activity in the lymph is elevated following coronary artery I/R in canines (76); however, in human clinical studies C5a either does not appear to be elevated or is minimally elevated following myocardial ischemia (69, 77). Recently, Alexion Corp. released results from a phase III clinical trial in coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) surgery patients using the C5 antibody, pexelizumab (78). The trial, involving approximately 4,250 patients, examined the ability of pexelizumab to reduce heart attack and death following CABG surgery, with or without concomitant valve surgery (78). The results showed that during the 30 days following surgery, pexelizumab treatment did not significantly reduce the incidence of nonfatal myocardial infarction or death (78). Given that pexelizumab inhibits both C5a and the MAC, the trial results suggest that inhibiting C5a may not be a valid therapeutic target for this condition. However, until trials are conducted using specific C5a inhibitors, the role of C5a in myocardial I/R remains inconclusive.

Complement activation is seen in humans with ischemic lower extremities, with studies showing an increase in serum levels of C3a and C5a (79). The role of C5a specifically in causing limb I/R injuries has been demonstrated by Bless and co-workers using an anti-C5a antibody. This group showed a reduction in lung vascular permeability, myeloperoxidase content and bronchoalveolar lavage levels of cytokine-induced neutrophil chemoattractant in anti-C5a antibody-treated rats,

demonstrating a specific role for C5a in this model (80). However, evidence by Kyriakides and colleagues suggested that the MAC is more important in inducing injury, and that the role of C5a is relatively minor (81). Our group has recently shown that specific blockade of C5aRs using PMX53 was able to reduce numerous parameters of local and remote injury following hindlimb I/R in rats (82). This study confirms the deleterious role of C5a in induced tissue injury, at least in this model of I/R injury. Once again, clinical studies with specific C5a inhibitors such as PMX53 will need to be conducted to determine the precise role of C5a in limb I/R.

Complement factors are also upregulated in human stroke patients (83). Animal models of cerebral ischemia in which complement activation is inhibited have also shown the importance of the complement system in disease pathology (84). Elevation in C5aR expression is observed in the brain following middle cerebral artery occlusion in rodents (85, 86), suggesting the involvement of C5a in the pathological process. To date, however, no one has investigated the effects of specific and selective C5a inhibitors in cerebral I/R, and this certainly is an area requiring further investigation. Interestingly, C5a has also been proposed as a potential neuroprotective agent in certain neurological situations (87), so the potential for a therapeutic effect by inhibiting C5a in situations of cerebral I/R has yet to be determined.

C5a as a therapeutic target

Given the multitude of diseases associated with C5a and its receptor (see above), it is little wonder that over the years numerous studies and development programs have been aimed at inhibiting the function of C5a (see 88 for review). Targeting C5a and/or its receptor has been an elusive task, and as yet, there is still no clinically available C5a inhibitor and will not be for some years to come.

Neurogen Corp. has developed a specific nonpeptide, orally active C5aR antagonist, NGD-2000-1, which has completed two phase Ila clinical trials. The compound is a substituted tetrahydroisoquinoline of undisclosed structure. Clinical trials were conducted in patients suffering from asthma and RA, and preliminary results demonstrated some efficacy in RA patients but not in asthma patients (89). In earlier phase I clinical studies, it was discovered that NGD-2000-1 inhibited cytochrome P450 3A4, potentially limiting its use in patients taking other drugs that are metabolized by this enzyme (26). Therefore, Neurogen Corp. has suspended further clinical development of NGD-2000-1 but has indicated it will continue profiling additional C5a antagonist compounds for future development (26).

The most advanced small-molecule inhibitor of C5a reported to date is PMX53 (Fig.1A), being developed by Promics Ltd. This cyclic peptide drug is a selective antagonist for human C5aRs with an *in vitro* potency of 2-6 nM (90). Surprisingly, the compound is quite active following oral administration and displays demonstrable oral bioavailability, despite its peptidic nature (42), which is

Fig.1. Structures of small-molecule cyclic peptide C5aR antagonists (A) PMX53 and (B) PMX205 (Promics Ltd.) and the non-peptide C5aR antagonist (C) W-54011 (Mitsubishi Corp.).

likely due to the cyclic nature of the compound which renders it stable to peptidase and acidic breakdown (90). This compound has been used for several years by numerous investigators as a pharmacological tool to delineate the specific role of C5a in various immunoinflammatory situations. Specifically, the compound is effective against models of arthritis; ischemia-reperfusion injuries of the gut, kidney, liver and limb; inflammatory bowel disease; sepsis; ruptured abdominal aortic aneurysm; immune complex-mediated reactions of the peritoneum and dermis; liver fibrosis; experimental lupus nephritis; antiphospholipid Ab-induced fetal injury; and traumatic brain cryoinjury (21, 42, 51, 55, 60, 66, 67, 82, 91-97), and is currently under investigation in numerous other disease models (98). PMX53 has undergone three clinical trials to date, a phase la safety and tolerability

trial, a phase lb/lla trial in RA patients, and a phase lb trial in psoriasis patients (www.promics.com), with successful primary outcomes in all three trials. Promics Ltd. is currently continuing development with PMX53 and other potentially more potent analogues such as PMX205 (hydrocinnamate-[OP(D-Cha)WR]; Fig. 1B) (90).

There are numerous other specific inhibitors of C5a reported which are in clinical development by pharmaceutical companies and scientific laboratories; however, to date none of these have progressed beyond phase la clinical trials. One important factor in progressing a drug to clinical trials is the development of a compound which has the appropriate physical characteristics for further drug development, and ideally, for oral administration. These include factors such as low molecular weight and economical cost of production, appropriate pharmacokinetic properties for oral drug delivery and elimination from the body, and lack of toxicity (99). Unfortunately, many of the early-stage C5a inhibitors reported by various groups do not display many of these favorable characteristics and, as such, are unlikely to progress further and enter clinical trials. A possible exception to this, is the smallmolecule, nonpeptide competitive antagonist of the C5aR, N-[4-dimethylaminophenyl)methyl]-N-(4-isopropylphenyl)-7-methoxy-1,2,3,4-tetrahydronaphthalene-1-carboxamide hydrochloride (W-54011; Fig. 1C) developed by Mitsubishi Corp. (100). This compound displays oral activity and is efficacious in animal models of inflammatory disease but has yet to enter clinical trials and is now available as a commercial laboratory reagent (24).

Alexion Corp. has also developed advanced inhibitors of C5 (C5 antibodies, pexelizumab and eculizumab) which have successfully completed numerous clinical trials in diseases such as paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria (phase III) and rheumatoid arthritis (phase IIb). These antibodies inhibit the formation of C5a, C5b and the membrane attack complex and, as such, their therapeutic effects in these trials cannot be differentiated among these complement factors. However, it is likely that some of the protective effects seen with the C5 antibodies in the clinical trials are due, in part, to inhibition of C5a.

Conclusions

The complement activation product C5a is produced by any of the three pathways of complement activation. The local production of C5a, in situations of injury or infection, leads to the infiltration and activation of immune and inflammatory cells, inducing the "innate" immune response and the "classic" inflammatory response. In normal and controlled situations, this process aids in the destruction of foreign matter and organisms, and promotes the healing process. However, increasing evidence suggests that C5a is produced in situations of human disease, and is responsible for the exacerbation and propagation of many disease states such as rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis, inflammatory bowel disease, and ischemia-reperfusion injuries. Many

animal models of these disease states have shown that inhibition of C5a can reduce the severity of the disease in these animals, suggesting that inhibiting C5a in human inflammatory diseases could be a viable therapeutic option. To date, the C5aR antagonist PMX53 (Promics Ltd.) is the most advanced specific, small-molecule C5a inhibitor and has demonstrated safety in early clinical trials, with some indications of efficacy in rheumatoid arthritis and psoriasis patients. Although the development of C5a inhibitors is still in the early stages, the weight of emerging experimental and clinical evidence indicates that specific inhibitors of C5a function could provide substantial therapeutic benefits in the future to patients with inflammatory diseases. Certainly, this represents an entirely new class of antiinflammatory drug and, as such, only controlled clinical trials conducted over the next few decades with optimized agents will illuminate their broad therapeutic potential in humans, as well as in veterinary medicine.

References

- 1. Bitter-Suermann, D. *The anaphylatoxins*. In: The Complement System. Springer-Verlag: Berlin 1988, 367-84.
- 2. Ember, J.A., Jagels, M.A., Hugli, T.E. Characterization of complement anaphylatoxins and their biological responses. In: The Human Complement System in Health and Disease. J.E. Volanakis, M.M. Frank (Eds.). Marcel Dekker: New York 1998, 241-84.
- 3. Zuiderweg, E.R., Henkin, J., Mollison, K.W., Carter, G.W., Greer, J. Comparison of model and nuclear magnetic resonance structures for the human inflammatory protein C5a. Proteins 1988, 3: 139-45.
- 4. Zhang, X., Boyar, W., Toth, M.J., Wennogle, L., Gonnella, N.C. *Structural definition of the C5a C terminus by two-dimensional nuclear magnetic resonace spectroscopy.* Proteins 1997, 28: 261-7.
- 5. Siciliano, S.J., Rollins, T.E., DeMartino, J. et al. *Two-site binding of C5a by its receptor: An alternative binding paradigm for G protein-coupled receptors.* Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1994, 91: 1214-8.
- 6. Cain, S.A., Monk, P.N. The orphan receptor C5L2 has high affinity binding sites for complement fragments C5a and C5a des-Arg⁷⁴. J Biol Chem 2002, 277: 7165-9.
- 7. Gao, H., Neff, T.A., Guo, R.F. et al. *Evidence for a functional role of the second C5a receptor C5L2*. FASEB J 2005, 19: 1003-5
- 8. Okinaga, S., Slattery, D., Humbles, A. et al. *C5L2, a nonsignaling C5A binding protein.* Biochemistry 2003, 42: 9406-15.
- 9. Gerard, N.P., Lu, B., Liu, P. et al. *An antiinflammatory function for the complement anaphylatoxin C5a-binding protein, C5L2*. J Biol Chem 2005, 280: 39677-80.
- 10. Morgan, E.L. Modulation of the immune response by anaphylatoxins. Complement 1986, 3: 128-36.
- 11. Smedegard, G., Cui, L.X., Hugli, T.E. Endotoxin-induced shock in the rat. A role for C5a. Am J Pathol 1989, 135: 489-97.

- 12. Short, A., Wong, A.K., Finch, A.M. et al. *Effects of a new C5a receptor antagonist on C5a- and endotoxin-induced neutropenia in the rat.* Br J Pharmacol 1999, 126: 551-4.
- 13. Kirschfink, M. Controlling the complement system in inflammation. Immunopharmacology 1997, 38: 51-62.
- 14. Gabriel, S.E., Tugwell, P., Drummond, M. *Progress towards an OMERACT-ILAR guideline for economic evaluations in rheumatology*. Ann Rheum Dis 2002, 61: 370-3.
- 15. Odeh, M. New Insights into the pathogenesis and treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Immunol Immunopathol 1997, 83: 103-16.
- 16. Morgan, B.P., Daniels, R.H., Williams, B.D. *Measurement of terminal complement complexes in rheumatoid arthritis*. Clin Exp Immunol 1988, 73: 473-8.
- 17. Kemp, P.A., Spragg, J.H., Brown, J.C., Morgan, B.P., Gunn, C.A., Taylor, P.W. *Immunohistochemical determination of complement activation in joint tissues of patients with rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis using neoantigen-specific monoclonal antibodies*. J Clin Lab Immunol 1992, 37: 147-62.
- 18. Hogasen, K., Mollnes, T.E., Harboe, M., Gotze, O., Hammer, H.B., Oppermann, M. *Terminal complement pathway activation and low lysis inhibitors in rheumatoid arthritis synovial fluid.* J Rheumatol 1995, 22: 24-8.
- 19. Yuan, G., Wei, J., Zhou, J., Hu, H., Tang, Z., Zhang, G. Expression of C5aR (CD88) of synoviocytes isolated from patients with rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis. Chin Med J (Engl) 2003, 116: 1408-12.
- 20. Grant, E.P., Picarella, D., Burwell, T. et al. *Essential role for the C5a receptor in regulating the effector phase of synovial infiltration and joint destruction in experimental arthritis*. J Exp Med 2002, 196: 1461-71.
- 21. Woodruff, T.M., Strachan, A.J., Dryburgh, N. et al. *Antiarthritic activity of an orally active C5a receptor antagonist against antigen-induced monarticular arthritis in the rat.* Arthritis Rheum 2002, 46: 2476-85.
- 22. Mizuno, M., Nishikawa, K., Morgan, B.P., Matsuo, S. Comparison of the suppressive effects of soluble CR1 and C5a receptor antagonist in acute arthritis induced in rats by blocking of CD59. Clin Exp Immunol 2000, 119: 368-75.
- 23. Mizuno, M., Nishikawa, K., Okada, N., Matsuo, S., Ito, K., Okada, H. *Inhibition of a membrane complement regulatory protein by a monoclonal antibody induces acute lethal shock in rats primed with lipopolysaccharide*. J Immunol 1999, 162: 5477-82.
- 24. Sakata, K., Sumichika, H., Goto, K. et al. A potent and orally active C5a receptor antagonist, W-54011, ameliorates established collagen-induced arthritis in cynomolgus monkeys. Clin Invest Med 2004, 27(4, Suppl.): Abst M10.13.
- 25. Resistentia Pharmaceuticals, AB. Treating a mammal having an inflammatory condition, e.g. sepsis, nephritis, graft rejection, comprises administering a polypeptide to the mammal such that the polypeptide induces an anti-C5 response in the mammal. WO 2004050111.
- 26. Neurogen reports phase IIa clinical trial results for oral RA drug. Neurogen Corp. Press Release 2004, Jun 15.
- 27. Positive rheumatoid arthritis human trial results for Promics' anti-inflammatory drug, PMX53. Promics Ltd. Press Release 2004, Dec 19.

- 28. Vergunst, C.E., Gerlag, D.M., Dinant, H.J., Smeets, T.J., Reedquist, K.A., and Tak, P.P. Results of a double-blind, place-bo-controlled proof of principle trial with an orally administered C5a-receptor antagonist in patients with active RA. 69th Annu Sci Meet Am Coll Rheumatol (Nov 12-17, San Diego) 2005, Abst 1863.
- 29. Alexion reports preliminary results of its phase IIb rheumatoid arthritis clinical trial. Alexion Pharmaceuticals. Press Release 2004, Jan 28.
- 30. Rocha-Pereira, P., Santos-Silva, A., Rebelo, I., Figueiredo, A., Quintanilha, A., Teixeira, F. *The inflammatory response in mild and in severe psoriasis*. Br J Dermatol 2004, 150: 917-28.
- 31. Pasch, M., Bos, J.D., Asghar, S.S. *Activation of complement in psoriasis*. Clin Exp Dermatol 1998, 23: 189-90.
- 32. Bergh, K., Iversen, O.J., Lysvand, H. Surprisingly high levels of anaphylatoxin C5a des Arg are extractable from psoriatic scales. Arch Dermatol Res 1993, 285: 131-4.
- 33. Takematsu, H., Tagami, H. *Quantification of chemotactic peptides (C5a anaphylatoxin and IL-8) in psoriatic lesional skin.* Arch Dermatol 1993, 129: 74-80.
- 34. Kapp, A., Wokalek, H., Schopf, E. *Involvement of complement in psoriasis and atopic dermatitis measurement of C3a and C5a, C3, C4 and C1 inactivator.* Arch Dermatol Res 1985, 277: 359-61.
- 35. Ohkohchi, K., Takematsu, H., Tagami, H. *Increased C5a* anaphylatoxin in the sera of psoriatic patients and patients with inflammatory dermatoses. J Dermatol 1986, 13: 266-9.
- 36. Yancey, K.B., Hammer, C.H., Harvath, L., Renfer, L., Frank, M.M., Lawley, T.J. Studies of human C5a as a mediator of inflammation in normal human skin. J Clin Invest 1985, 75: 486-95.
- 37. Yancey, K.B., Swerlick, R.A., Lawley, T.J. C5a as a mediator of cutaneous inflammation. Am J Dermatopathol 1987, 9: 138-43.
- 38. Allegretti, M., Moriconi, A., Beccari, A.R. et al. *Targeting C5a: Recent advances in drug discovery*. Curr Med Chem 2005, 12: 217-36.
- 39. Tsuji, R.F., Kawikova, I., Ramabhadran, R. et al. *Early local generation of C5a initiates the elicitation of contact sensitivity by leading to early T cell recruitment*. J Immunol 2000, 165: 1588-98.
- 40. Tsuji, R.F., Magae, J., Nagai, K., Yamasaki, M. *Effects of L-156,602, a C5a receptor antagonist, on mouse experimental models of inflammation*. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 1992, 56: 2034-6.
- 41. Tsuji, R.F., Yamakoshi, J., Uramoto, M. et al. *Anti-inflammatory effects and specificity of L-156,602: Comparison of effects on concanavalin A and zymosan-induced footpad edema, and contact sensitivity response.* Immunopharmacology 1995, 29: 79-87.
- 42. Strachan, A.J., Shiels, I.A., Reid, R.C., Fairlie, D.P., Taylor, S.M. Inhibition of immune-complex mediated dermal inflammation in rats following either oral or topical administration of a small molecule C5a receptor antagonist. Br J Pharmacol 2001, 134: 1778-86.
- 43. Hawlisch, H., Heller, T., Tschernigy, T., Klos, A., Kohl, J. *C5a triggers the contact hypersensitivity in mice and is a potential therapeutic target.* The XIX International Complement Workshop (Sept 22-26, Palermo) 2002, Abst 211.

- 44. Another positive performance for Promics' anti-inflammatory drug PMX53. Promics Ltd. Press Release 2004, March 10.
- 45. Hendrickson, B.A., Gokhale, R., Cho, J.H. *Clinical aspects and pathophysiology of inflammatory bowel disease*. Clin Microbiol Rev 2002, 15: 79-94.
- 46. Elson, C.O., Sartor, R.B., Tennyson, G.S., Riddell, R.H. *Experimental models of inflammatory bowel disease*. Gastroenterology 1995, 109: 1344-67.
- 47. Elmgreen, J. Complement and function of neutrophils in chronic inflammatory bowel disease. Dan Med Bull 1986, 33: 222-8.
- 48. Kolios, G., Petoumenos, C., Nakos, A. *Mediators of inflammation: Production and implication in inflammatory bowel disease.* Hepatogastroenterology 1998, 45: 1601-9.
- 49. Halstensen, T.S., Brandtzaeg, P. Local complement activation in inflammatory bowel disease. Immunol Res 1991, 10: 485-92.
- 50. Ueki, T., Mizuno, M., Uesu, T. et al. *Distribution of activated complement, C3b, and its degraded fragments, iC3b/C3dg, in the colonic mucosa of ulcerative colitis (UC).* Clin Exp Immunol 1996, 104: 286-92.
- 51. Woodruff, T.M., Arumugam, T.V., Shiels, I.A., Reid, R.C., Fairlie, D.P., Taylor, S.M. *A potent human C5a receptor antagonist protects against disease pathology in a rat model of inflammatory bowel disease*. J Immunol 2003, 171: 5514-20.
- 52. Riedemann, N.C., Ward, P.A. Complement in ischemia reperfusion injury. Am J Pathol 2003, 162: 363-7.
- 53. Arumugam, T.V., Shiels, I.A., Woodruff, T.M., Granger, D.N., Taylor, S.M. *The role of the complement system in ischemia-reperfusion injury.* Shock 2004, 21: 401-9.
- 54. Tomasdottir, H., Henriksson, B.A., Bengtson, J.P., Bengtsson, A., Stenqvist, O., Persson, H. *Complement activation during liver transplantation*. Transplantation 1993, 55: 799-802.
- 55. Arumugam, T.V., Woodruff, T.M., Stocks, S.Z. et al. *Protective effect of a human C5a receptor antagonist against hepatic ischaemia-reperfusion injury in rats.* J Hepatol 2004, 40: 934-41.
- 56. Strey, C.W., Markiewski, M., Mastellos, D. et al. *The proinflammatory mediators C3a and C5a are essential for liver regeneration*. J Exp Med 2003, 198: 913-23.
- 57. Zhou, W., Farrar, C.A., Abe, K. et al. *Predominant role for C5b-9 in renal ischemia/reperfusion injury.* J Clin Invest 2000, 105: 1363-71.
- 58. De Vries, B., Matthijsen, R.A., Wolfs, T.G., Van Bijnen, A.A., Heeringa, P., Buurman, W.A. *Inhibition of complement factor C5 protects against renal ischemia-reperfusion injury: Inhibition of late apoptosis and inflammation.* Transplantation 2003, 75: 375-82.
- 59. Park, P., Haas, M., Cunningham, P.N. et al. *Inhibiting the complement system does not reduce injury in renal ischemia reperfusion*. J Am Soc Nephrol 2001, 12: 1383-90.
- 60. Arumugam, T.V., Shiels, I.A., Strachan, A.J., Abbenante, G., Fairlie, D.P., Taylor, S.M. *A small molecule C5a receptor antagonist protects kidneys from ischemia/reperfusion injury in rats.* Kidney Int 2003, 63: 134-42.
- 61. De Vries, B., Kohl, J., Leclercq, W.K. et al. Complement factor C5a mediates renal ischemia-reperfusion injury independent from neutrophils. J Immunol 2003, 170: 3883-9.

- 62. Hill, J., Lindsay, T.F., Ortiz, F., Yeh, C.G., Hechtman, H.B., Moore, F.D. Jr. Soluble complement receptor type 1 ameliorates the local and remote organ injury after intestinal ischemia-reperfusion in the rat. J Immunol 1992, 149: 1723-8.
- 63. Sheng, Z.Y., Dong, Y.L., Wang, X.H. *Bacterial translocation and multiple system organ failure in bowel ischemia and reperfusion.* Chin Med J (Engl) 1991, 104: 897-903.
- 64. Heller, T., Hennecke, M., Baumann, U. et al. Selection of a C5a receptor antagonist from phage libraries attenuating the inflammatory response in immune complex disease and ischemia/reperfusion injury. J Immunol 1999, 163: 985-94.
- 65. Austen, W.G., Jr., Kyriakides, C., Favuzza, J. et al. *Intestinal ischemia-reperfusion injury is mediated by the membrane attack complex*. Surgery 1999, 126: 343-8.
- 66. Arumugam, T.V., Shiels, I.A., Woodruff, T.M., Reid, R.C., Fairlie, D.P., Taylor, S.M. *Protective effect of a new C5a receptor antagonist against ischemia-reperfusion injury in the rat small intestine*. J Surg Res 2002, 103: 260-7.
- 67. Fleming, S.D., Mastellos, D., Karpel-Massler, G., Shea-Donohue, T., Lambris, J.D., Tsokos, G.C. *C5a causes limited, polymorphonuclear cell-independent, mesenteric ischemia/reperfusion-induced injury.* Clin Immunol 2003, 108: 263-73.
- 68. Schafer, H., Mathey, D., Hugo, F., Bhakdi, S. Deposition of the terminal C5b-9 complement complex in infarcted areas of human myocardium. J Immunol 1986, 137: 1945-9.
- 69. Langlois, P.F., Gawryl, M.S. Detection of the terminal complement complex in patient plasma following acute myocardial infarction. Atherosclerosis 1988, 70: 95-105.
- 70. Weisman, H.F., Bartow, T., Leppo, M.K. et al. Soluble human complement receptor type 1: In vivo inhibitor of complement suppressing post-ischemic myocardial inflammation and necrosis. Science 1990, 249: 146-51.
- 71. Vakeva, A.P., Agah, A., Rollins, S.A., Matis, L.A., Li, L., Stahl, G.L. *Myocardial infarction and apoptosis after myocardial ischemia and reperfusion: Role of the terminal complement components and inhibition by anti-C5 therapy.* Circulation 1998, 97: 2259-67.
- 72. Yasojima, K., Schwab, C., McGeer, E.G., McGeer, P.L. Human heart generates complement proteins that are upregulated and activated after myocardial infarction. Circ Res 1998, 83: 860-9.
- 73. Riley, R.D., Sato, H., Zhao, Z.Q. et al. Recombinant human complement C5a receptor antagonist reduces infarct size after surgical revascularization. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2000, 120: 350-8.
- 74. Tofukuji, M., Stahl, G.L., Agah, A., Metais, C., Simons, M., Sellke, F.W. *Anti-C5a monoclonal antibody reduces cardiopul-monary bypass and cardioplegia-induced coronary endothelial dysfunction.* J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1998, 116: 1060-8.
- 75. Tanhehco, E.J., Lee, H., and Lucchesi, B.R. Sublytic complement attack reduces infarct size in rabbit isolated hearts: Evidence for C5a-mediated cardioprotection. Immunopharmacology 2000, 49: 391-9.
- 76. Dreyer, W.J., Michael, L.H., Nguyen, T. et al. *Kinetics of C5a release in cardiac lymph of dogs experiencing coronary artery ischemia-reperfusion injury*. Circ Res 1992, 71: 1518-24.

- 77. Montalescot, G., Drobinski, G., Maclouf, J. et al. *Evaluation of thromboxane production and complement activation during myocardial ischemia in patients with angina pectoris*. Circulation 1991, 84: 2054-62.
- 78. Alexion reports phase III results for PRIMO-CABG2 study. Alexion Pharmaceuticals. Press Release 2005, November 23.
- 79. Heideman, M., Norder-Hansson, B., Bengtson, A., Mollnes, T.E. *Terminal complement complexes and anaphylatoxins in septic and ischemic patients*. Arch Surg 1988, 123: 188-92.
- 80. Bless, N.M., Warner, R.L., Padgaonkar, V.A. et al. Roles for C-X-C chemokines and C5a in lung injury after hindlimb ischemia-reperfusion. Am J Physiol 1999, 276: L57-63.
- 81. Kyriakides, C., Austen, W. Jr., Wang, Y. et al. Skeletal muscle reperfusion injury is mediated by neutrophils and the complement membrane attack complex. Am J Physiol 1999, 277: C1263-8.
- 82. Woodruff, T.M., Arumugam, T.V., Shiels, I.A., Reid, R.C., Fairlie, D.P., Taylor, S.M. *Protective effects of a potent C5a receptor antagonist on experimental acute limb ischemia-reperfusion in rats.* J Surg Res 2004, 116: 81-90.
- 83. Lindsberg, P.J., Ohman, J., Lehto, T. et al. *Complement activation in the central nervous system following blood-brain barrier damage in man.* Ann Neurol 1996, 40: 587-96.
- 84. Huang, J., Kim, L.J., Mealey, R. et al. *Neuronal protection in stroke by an sLex-glycosylated complement inhibitory protein.* Science 1999, 285: 595-9.
- 85. Van Beek, J., Bernaudin, M., Petit, E. et al. *Expression of receptors for complement anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a following permanent focal cerebral ischemia in the mouse.* Exp Neurol 2000, 161: 373-82.
- 86. Barnum, S.R., Ames, R.S., Maycox, P.R. et al. *Expression of the complement C3a and C5a receptors after permanent focal ischemia: An alternative interpretation.* Glia 2002, 38: 169-73.
- 87. Osaka, H., Mukherjee, P., Aisen, P.S., Pasinetti, G.M. Complement-derived anaphylatoxin C5a protects against glutamate-mediated neurotoxicity. J Cell Biochem 1999, 73: 303-11.
- 88. Proctor, L.M., Woodruff, T.M., Taylor, S.M. Recent developments in C5/C5a inhibitors. Exp Opin Ther Patents 2006, 16: 445-58.
- 89. Neurogen reports phase IIa clinical trial results for oral asthma drug. Neurogen Corp. Press Release, January 13.
- 90. Woodruff, T.M., Pollitt, S., Proctor, L.M. et al. *Increased potency of a novel complement factor 5a receptor antagonist in a rat model of inflammatory bowel disease.* J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2005, 314: 811-7.
- 91. Huber-Lang, M.S., Riedeman, N.C., Sarma, J.V. et al. *Protection of innate immunity by C5aR antagonist in septic mice*. Faseb J 2002, 16: 1567-74.
- 92. Strachan, A.J., Woodruff, T.M., Haaima, G., Fairlie, D.P., Taylor, S.M. *A new small molecule C5a receptor antagonist inhibits the reverse-passive Arthus reaction and endotoxic shock in rats.* J Immunol 2000, 164: 6560-5.
- 93. Harkin, D.W., Romaschin, A., Taylor, S.M., Rubin, B.B., Lindsay, T.F. Complement C5a receptor antagonist attenuates multiple organ injury in a model of ruptured abdominal aortic aneurysm. J Vasc Surg 2004, 39: 196-206.

- 94. Hillebrandt, S., Wasmuth, H.E., Weiskirchen, R. et al. Complement factor 5 is a quantitative trait gene that modifies liver fibrogenesis in mice and humans. Nat Genet 2005, 37: 835-43.
- 95. Bao, L., Osawe, I., Puri, T., Lambris, J.D., Haas, M., Quigg, R.J. *C5a promotes development of experimental lupus nephritis which can be blocked with a specific receptor antagonist.* Eur J Immunol 2005, 35: 2496-506.
- 96. Girardi, G., Berman, J., Redecha, P. et al. *Complement C5a receptors and neutrophils mediate fetal injury in the antiphospholipid syndrome.* J Clin Invest 2003, 112: 1644-54.
- 97. Sewell, D.L., Nacewicz, B., Liu, F. et al. Complement C3 and C5 play critical roles in traumatic brain cryoinjury: Blocking effects on neutrophil extravasation by C5a receptor antagonist. J Neuroimmunol 2004, 155: 55-63.
- 98. Woodruff, T.M., Crane, J.W., Proctor, L.M., Shiels, I.A., Monk, P.N., Taylor, S.M. *Cyclic peptide, C5a receptor antagonists protect against striatal degeneration in a rat model of Huntington's disease*. 3rd Workshop on Complement Associated Diseases, Animal Models, and Therapeutics (Jun 5-10, Aegean Conferences; Rhodes) 2005, Abst 11.
- 99. Taylor, S.M., Fairlie, D.P. Regulators of the anaphylatoxin C5a. Exp Opin Ther Patents 2000, 10: 449-58.
- 100. Sumichika, H., Sakata, K., Sato, N. et al. *Identification of a potent and orally active non-peptide C5a receptor antagonist.* J Biol Chem 2002, 277: 49403-7.
- 101. Stevens, J.H., O'Hanley, P., Shapiro, J.M. et al. *Effects of anti-C5a antibodies on the adult respiratory distress syndrome in septic primates*. J Clin Invest 1986, 77: 1812-6.
- 102. Speidl, W.S., Exner, M., Amighi, J. et al. Complement component C5a predicts future cardiovascular events in patients with advanced atherosclerosis. Eur Heart J 2005, 26: 2294-9.
- 103. Bengtson, A., Heideman, M. *Anaphylatoxin formation in plasma and burn bullae fluid in the thermally injured patient.* Burns Incl Therm Inj 1987, 13: 185-9.
- 104. Lappegard, K.T., Fung, M., Bergseth, G. et al. *Effect of complement inhibition and heparin coating on artificial surface-induced leukocyte and platelet activation.* Ann Thorac Surg 2004, 77: 932-41.
- 105. Abe, K., Miyazaki, M., Koji, T. et al. Enhanced expression of complement C5a receptor mRNA in human diseased kidney assessed by in situ hybridization. Kidney Int 2001, 60: 137-46.
- 106. Nozaki, M., Raisler, B.J., Sakurai, E. et al. *Drusen complement components C3a and C5a promote choroidal neovascularization*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006, 103: 2328-33.
- 107. Farkas, I., Takahashi, M., Fukuda, A. et al. Complement C5a receptor-mediated signaling may be involved in neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. J Immunol 2003, 170: 5764-71.
- 108. Szebeni, J., Baranyi, L., Savay, S. et al. Complement activation-related cardiac anaphylaxis in pigs: Role of C5a anaphylatoxin and adenosine in liposome-induced abnormalities in ECG and heart function. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2006, 290: H1050-8.
- 109. Takematsu, H., Ohkohchi, K., Tagami, H. *Demonstration of anaphylatoxins C3a, C4a and C5a in the scales of psoriasis and inflammatory pustular dermatoses.* Br J Dermatol 1986, 114: 1-6